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industrial archeology, including work
inventorijes in Cleveland, and Dr. Charles K. Hyde, a historian of
technology with seven years' €Xperience op oumerous H.A.E.R. inventories ang recording pro-
jects. The two surveyors identified total of one hundred ang one (101) lighthouses or

(D O et aee oL 1

Several criteria were used for inclusion in this thematic.nomination. Lights which were
significant tq the growth of generai navigation on the Greap Lakes, Specifically coastal
lights, major harbor lights (e.g., in Chicago, Cleveland, ang Buffalo), ang reef/shoal
lights were nominated. Legg Significant harbor lights weré includegd

innovative designs. Finally, the nomination inc
because of innovative constructiopn techniques ug
remote locations, DOSt notably op isolated reefg

The historical integrity of the surviving buildip
used for Selection. The minimunm requirement wag that the lighthouse or light tower be ~ -
Structurally intact. Tota] integrity of buildings, Structures, angd equipment ig non- _-

existant for Great Lakes light stations because of modernization ang Automation. - Nowhere
for example has nineteenth—century Steam-driven fog signal equipment survived. The origipa
lenses are eéxtant at about one-half of the sites, but the conversion tg electrical;illumi—-
nation in the twentjeth century eliminated the original.ggi;vapor or acetylene.illﬁminating
dpparatus., A1}l of the lenses which were originally turned by mechanical clockwork sSystems
4re now drivep by electric motors, Nevertheless, the Properties are essentially coherent,
i.e., the major buildings and Structures are intact. Light stations where most of the )

major buildings are not Standing were excluded frop the nomination - et
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Using these Criteria, g3 total of fifey Properties were selected. -They
by state. B
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Chicago Harbor>Light Station _

Michigan

Big Sable Point Light Station
Detroit River Light ‘Station
Eagle Harbor Light Station
Forty Mile Point Light Station :
Grand Traverse Light Station

Granite Island Light Station
Gull Rock Light Station
Harbor Beach Light

Isle Royale Light Station

Little Sable Point Light Station:

Manitou Island Light Station * -
Marquette Harbor Lighthouse :
Pointe Betsie Light Station
Port Sanilac Light Station
Presque Isle Light Station

Rock of Ages Light Station -
Saginaw River Light Station -
Seul Choix Point Light Station

Skillagallee (Ile Aux Galets) Light Station -

Sturgeon Point Light Station

St. Martin Island Light Station -
Tawas Point Light Station '
Thunder Bay Island Light Station
Waugoshance Light Station3
White Shoal Light Station:

Minnesota
=esota

Duluth South Breakwater Inner Light -

Two Harbors Light Station

Ce——— D

Buffalo Main Light -

Buffalo North Breakwater South End

_ Light
Dunkirk Light

Fort Niagara Light -

Galloo Island Light :
South Buffalo North Side Light .
Thirty Mile Point Light .
Tibbetts Point Light .

Ohio

Ashtabula Harbor Light

Cedar Point Light

Cleveland West Pierhead Light
Toledo Harbor Light

West Sister Island Light

Pennsylvania

Presque Isle Light
Wisconsin

Ashland Breakwater Light »
LaPointe Light Station. - .
North Point Light Station: <. [ . :
Plum Island Rear Range Light 1 3 + -
Rawley Point Light Stationm & I
Sherwood Point Light Station s-o... ...
Sturgeon Bay Canal Light R '
Wind Point Light Station :
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and the Atlantic Coast. " Within a few years after this event there was an enormous growth
in shipments of -grain, 1umber, .and coal from west to east, while manufactured goods moved
in the opposite direction. - The Great ‘Lakes . transportation system was not fully developed

the rest of the world. According to one estimate, the -value of products traded on the

Great Lakes in 1856 was approximately $600 million, more than the total value of Amér_ican
foreign trade. ’ '

tury and retained its significance to the national economy. - Shipments increased sharply
from 6 million tons in 1870 to over 80 million ‘tons by 1911, while the value of trade rose
more slowly, by about 430 percent. This slower growth reflected declining price levels an
2 simultaneous shift 4in the composition of trade. Lumber and grains hady accounted for
three-quarters of the tonnage shipped in the 1870's, but by.1911 they accounted for Jless
than one-tenth of the total. Over the same Period, iron ore ‘shipments increased inf’import-
ance, accounting for half the total tonnage by 1911, while coal made up another quarter.

ment of major iron and steel plants at Gary, Buffalo, Cleveland, and Detroit during the °
last quarter of the nineteenth century was a direct result of the Great Lakes‘transportati}
system, which permitted the economical movement of iro

. - s . . R S T .
The development of Great Lakes lighthouses and othar aids to navigation not .q _'Ily.‘];ara]_.lele‘
- The construction.and maip.
tenance of lighthouses hag been a Federal Government responsibility since 1789',"£rh_e-n“-Con-’

- mE

Secretary of the Treasury. Responsibility for aids to navigation remained in '_thé Treaéury
to the-newly-_-created
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The construction of lighthouses on the Great Lakes began in earnest after the Erie Cana
opened. Only four lighthouses were built in 1818-1822, seven more were added in 1825-
1822, but the first real boom took place in the 1830's, when thirty-four were built.
Construction slowed the following decade when only twenty new lights were added to the
System, but then quickened in the 1850's when thirty-eight new lighthouses were built.
On the eve of the Civil War the Great Lakes had a total of one hundred and two light-
houses. Their distribution reflected the relative importance of the individual Lakes a
that time. Lake Michigan had a total of thirty-three lights, Lake Erie had twenty-nine
while Lakes Superior, Ontario, and Huron had fourteen, eleven, and ten respectively.
There were an additional five lights on the Detroit River and Lake St. Clair. Two-thir
of these structures marked harbor or river entrances, while the rest were placed on
islands, points, and dangerous shoals and reefs.

As commerce expanded after the Civil War, particularly on Lake Superior, so did the nee
for additional lighthouses. The increased volume of traffic and the growth in the size
of ships made improved lighting of treacherous areas like the Straits of Mackinac, the
St. Mary's River, and the Detroit River imperative, The total number of Great Lakes
lighthouses more than tripled between 1860 and the end of the century, by which time
there were 333 lighthouses and eleven lightships in service. Lake Michigan had the mos
lighthouses (ninety-six), but Lake Superior was close behind with ninety-one, not inclu
ding nearly fifty additional lights on the St. Mary's River. Lake Erie was a distant
third with forty-eight lights, reflecting the changed orientation of Lake traffic towar
Lake Superior. Most lighthouse construction after 1900 involved rebuilding or relocati;
existing structures and replacing lightships with permanent light stations. The light-
house system in use today is essentially the structures which were in place in the earl:
twentieth century, with modernized, automated lighting systems added later. :

Lighthouse design evolved gradually during the nineteenth century, with considerable
variations between harbor and coast lights. The mosSt common design ye¥ors A8 1S
of a frame or brick Keeper's Dwelling with the light exhibited in a lantern mounted ..
either directly atop the dwelling or on an attached square tower standing twenty-five .
to forty feet tall. This was not however 2 universal design. Where taller towers were
required, usually for coastal lights, conical masonry (usually brick) Structures were

builce, normally connected to the Reeper's House by an enclosed pPassageway. There were

"~

during this era. Initially there were considerable variations in lantern designs, in-~
cluding the widespread use of the "birdcage" lantern, but by the 1870's the pPolygonal
lantern, usually with eight or ten sides, had become nearly universal on the Lakes.f.“?;
There were also significant changes in 1Tluminants and lenses prior to 1870. At the .
beginning of the century sperm oil was the Principal illuminant, but as the sperm whale
population declined, rapeseed oil was substituted. Immediately after the Civil War, .la:

<
r
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oil became the standard source of light. The lenses used in lighthouses were a more i
portant and controversial matter. The U.S. government adopted the Argand lamp and par
bolic reflector System for its lighthouses after purchasing the patent rights from
Captain Winslow Lewis in 1812. The French physicist‘Augustus Fresnel developed a radi
cally different ang superior lemns in 1822, iacorporating a series of glass prisms sur-
rounding the light source in a beehive configuration. A central Prism magnified the
light while Prisms above and below refracted light to yield a single powerful beam.

The Lighthouse Establishment, directed by the Fifth Auditor of the Treasury, did not
make any significant effort to adopt the Fresnel lens for thirty years. A single lens
of the new type was purchased in 1841, but ten years later there were only three in us
in the United States. The Fifth Auditor, Stephen Pleasanton, adamantly resisted the
Fresnel lens and was responsible for its slow adoption.
nically ignorant, and a close friend of Winslow Lewis, AR cutraged Congress eventuall
investigated the Lighthouse Establishment in 1851 and the following year created the
Lighthouse Board, dominated by military officers, engineers, and scientists. They mov
quickly to adopt the Fresnel lens, which not only produced a superior light, but was
also more economical to operate. Seventy-five Great Lakes
Fresnel lenses between 1854 and 1857 and all new ones built
equiped. This became the standard lens for the rest of the
more than one hundred of these in service on the Great Lakes

He was ultraconservative, tec

Lighthouse design evolved in several distinct directions after the Civil War. Beginni,
in the 1870's harbor lights were moved from the mainland onto the pPiers and breakwater:
that were being built, necessitating a change in their design. Pier lights, while sti:
manned, no longer included a residence which typically remained on shore, so simple

wooden or skeletal iron structures sufficed. Few of these have

1920's the wmenclosed skelet
the dominant form.

Coastal and islangd lights Trequiring tall light towers evolved more slowly. With a few
exceptions, the conical brick towver was the typical design used before 1900. TIndividu:
towers one hundred feet tall, requiring massive walls were not uncommon, although thecre
were also significant examples of skeletal steel towers. After the turn of th

e century
there wvere few tall towers built and thesge all utilized steel frames. SR

-y
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The‘greatest>cha11engé faced by lighthouse designers in the period 1870-1910 was the
construction of light stations on isolated islands,'reefs, and shoals. The Lighthouse
Establishment had its own staff of engineers attached to the three Great Lakes distric
and these were usually men with experience as military engineers. -When a proposed lig
house presented particularly difficult engineering problems, the T.S. Army Corps of
Engineers would assign additional personnel to work on the Project. They became exper

engineering feats at Spectacle Reef (1874), Stannard Rock (1882).'agd the Detroit Rive
Light (1885). The culmination of these efforts to design and build structures under

Lenses and illuminants have also changed considerably since the 1870's. The Fresnel
lens was virtually the only type used until the 1910's, when a variety of new types
gradually came into use, primarily in new light towers. These included locomotive
lenses, airport beacon styles, and a variety of lens lanterns which could be exposed t
the elements. Rerosene was introduced as an illuminant in 1877 and by the mid-1880's
had largely replaced lard oil. Incandescent lamps were used experimentally beginning
in the 1890's and acetylenesgas after 1902, but kerosene and other oils remained the
dominant illuminant until the 1920's, when the majority of lights were converted to
electrical illumination, Increased electrification of isolated areas and the develop-
ment of improved portable engines and generators made the conversion to electricity
virtually complete by the Second World War. :

< - AT e et e e




fForm No 10.300a . N
{Rev. 10-74}

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

FOR NPS USE ONLY -

RECEIVED ‘
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES B
INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM DATE ENTERED
CONT!NUATION'SHEET ITEM NUMBER 9 PAGE 1

Holland, Francis Ross, Jr. America's Lighthouses: Their Illustrated Histéry
Since 1716. Brattleboro, Vermont: Stephen Green Press, 1972. :

Mansfield, J.B. Histo;y{gi the Great Lakes, Volume TI. Chicago: J. Beers &
Company, 1899.

O'Brien, T. Michael. Guardians of the Eighth Sea: A History of the U.S. Coast

Guard on the Great Lakes. Washington, D.C.: UD.s. Government Printing Office,
1976.

Strobridge, Truman R. Chronology gf_Aidslgg_Navigation and the 0ld Lighthouse
Service, 1716-1939. Washington, D.C.: U.s. Government Printing Office, 1974.

Taylor, George Rogers. The Transportation Revolution, 1815-1860. New York: Holt,
Rinehart and Winston, 195]. :

U.S. Coast Guard, Light List, IV, Great Lakes. Washington, D.C.: U.sS. Government
Printing Office, 1978.

U.S. Light-House Establishment. Light List For 1858. Washington, 1858,

Williamson, Samuel H. “The Growth of the Greatﬁ:hﬁﬁé as a Major Transportation
Resource¢3_1870—l9ll," in Paul Uselding, Editor, Research in Economic

in History,
II, pp. 173-248. Greenwich, Commecticut: Jai Press, 1977.
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In the National Register of Historic Places information leaflet, the general

criteria for listing a property in the National Register of Historic Places are as
follows:

"The quality of significance in American history, architecture, archeology,
and culture is present in districts, sites, buildings, structures, and objects

that possess integrity of location, design, setting, materials, workmanship,
feeling, and association, and: .

A. that are associated with events that have made a significant
contribution to the broad patterns of our history; or

B. that are associated with the lives of persons significant in our
past; or

C. that embody the districtive Characteristics of a type, period, or
method of construction, or that represent a significant and

distinguishable entity whose components may lack individual
distinction; or

D. that have yielded, or may be likely to yield, information important
in prehistory or history.

In evaluating the significance of Tighthouses on the Great Lakes, it is
apparent that Criteria A and ¢ are the most applicable. It is also apparent that
essentially all lighthouses embody the distinctive characteristics of a type,
period, or method of construction and that practically all lighthouses on the

Great Lakes could conceivably be eligible for the National Register of Historic
Places under Criteria C.

Great Lakes. Without question, arguments could be made that lighthouses not included -~
in this nomination could have local historical significance and thus could be
eligible for the National Register. Similarly, archeologists could argue that
lighthouse sites no longer retaining standing structures might be likely to yield
information important to history or prehistory, and thus be eligible for the
National Register. Nonetheless, this study recommends the following fifty ——
lTighthouses for nomination to the National Registerfof4§j§t0(jq~fla§es. - o
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